
 

 

City of Rainier 

Planning Commission Meeting 

December 16, 2020 

6 p.m. 

Rainier City Hall 

 

Chair Erin O’Connell called the meeting to order at 6:10 p.m.  

 

Commissioners Present: Erin O’Connell, Julie Kauppi, Paul Langner and Dena Nordstrom 

 

Commissioners Absent: None 

 

City Staff Present: City Recorder Sarah Blodgett, City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen and 

Planner Keshia Owens 

 

Visitors Present: Roberta Boursaw 

 

Visitor Comments:  There were no visitor comments at this time. 

 

Consider Approval of the Consent Agenda: 

 

Consider Approval of the June 5, 2019 Regular Planning Commission Meeting Minutes— 

Commissioner Paul Langner moved to approve the consent agenda. That motion was seconded 

by Commissioner Dena Nordstrom and adopted unanimously.  

 

4. New Business: 

a.  Introduction of Planner Keshia Owens—Owens introduced herself as the city’s new      

     contract planner from the Cowlitz-Wahkiakum Council of Governments (CWCOG). She’s  

     originally from Florida and attended Michigan State University. Owens worked as a  

     planning technician for the City of Ketchum, Idaho, as a planner for the City of Portland  

     and as an assistant planner for the City of Newberg. She’s been with the CWCOG since  

     August. 

 

b.   New Member Recommendation—City Administrator W. Scott Jorgensen said that the  

council voted to change the Planning Commission’s makeup from seven to five members 

to better enable a quorum. He advertised the remaining vacant position and Nina Phillips 

was the sole applicant. If the commission votes to recommend her appointment, it will go 

before the council. If council agrees with the recommendation, Phillips can be seated at 

the next commission meeting. Langner said he would support Phillips’ appointment. 

O’Connell said she would appreciate having the perspective of a small business owner on 

the commission and would be happy to have Phillips join as a member. Langner moved 



 

 

to recommend to council that Phillips be appointed to the commission. That motion was 

seconded by Nordstrom and adopted unanimously  

 

      c.   Meeting Dates—O’Connell said the proposed meeting dates included in the packet call  

  for them to be held the second Wednesday of the month. The commission doesn’t have to  

meet if there is nothing to discuss. O’Connell thinks the proposed schedule should work. 

She tends to be busy in the summer, so the commission may have to have a vice chair. 

Jorgensen suggested that as an agenda item for the January meeting. Commissioners 

agreed by consensus.  

 

d.   City Emails—Jorgensen said that council members all have city emails and asked if the    

commissioners would like some as well. He’s currently using commissioners’ personal 

emails to send city-related information to them. Nordstrom said she would be fine with 

having a city email. Langner and Kauppi said they had no strong opinions either way. 

O’Connell said she would like a city email. Jorgensen told Langner and Kauppi that city 

emails could be set up for them at a later date if it becomes necessary. They agreed to 

have city emails set up for them. 

 

      e.   Food Cart Ordinance—Jorgensen said the issue came up at the council’s March meeting.  

The council wanted the commission to provide direction. But the process was stalled by  

the COVID outbreak. He started in September and got the commission back together.  

Roberta Boursaw’s attorney wrote a letter to the city stating that she could legally operate  

under its transient merchant ordinance. The city attorney reviewed the letter and agreed  

with that interpretation. The city didn’t want a free-for-all and has been getting other  

inquiries about food carts. Boursaw agreed to hold off until an ordinance was passed  

because she wants to maintain a good relationship with the city. Jorgensen said the  

commission can give input to staff. He can then take it to the city attorney and have an  

ordinance drafted for council to consider. O’Connell said the food carts should be  

required to be licensed. Those city licenses would be subject to annual review and  

renewal. The carts should have to pass health inspections. Boursaw said they should be  

required to be insured. O’Connell said Columbia County and its cities require food carts  

to be connected to services like sewer and water. Portable holding tanks can be  

problematic. Boursaw asked if it is different for food carts that leave their designated site  

every day. Jorgensen said that the City of Aurora requires food carts to have a partnership  

with existing brick and mortar businesses. O’Connell said that if a food cart has a hand  

wash sink, the water has to go somewhere. Boursaw said she has a spot at the gas station  

and was told she could use the porta potties there. Jorgensen asked how that’s handled in  

other cities in the county. O’Connell said food carts are required to be tied into services.  

Multnomah County had allowed food carts to have holding tanks, but it became a hazard  

so the requirements were changed. Nordstrom asked about set hours. Boursaw said she  

would operate for four hours a day, five days a week, then leave at the end of those days.  

Her food cart won’t be stationary and will be going home with her every night. Kauppi  

suggested having criteria for different scenarios. Langer said the traffic impacts of food  



 

 

carts are unknown. Perhaps those can be reviewed. Jorgensen asked if that could be  

reviewed at the time of license renewal. He suggested that maybe there should be a  

general plan submitted documenting the proposed flow of traffic to and from the site.  

That’s what was done in Aurora for a coffee stand that went in there. Boursaw said her  

food cart would not be a drive-through. People would park and walk up to it. Langner  

suggested that the police chief give input on traffic impacts as part of the annual renewal  

review process. Jorgensen asked what zones the food carts should be allowed in.  

O’Connell said she would be fine with any that would support the use, but not residential.  

Jorgensen said Mayor Jerry Cole had wanted input on whether to allow on them on  

public versus private property. Boursaw said that St. Helens and Scappoose allow them  

on private property only. O’Connell said that electrical power to the food carts should be  

inspected and approved. Blodgett asked about generators. Boursaw said she uses one for  

her food cart. Hooking up to the electricity of an existing business is a big expense.  

O’Connell suggested that if a food cart is stationary, it should be required to hook up to  

those services and that would have to be inspected as part of the siting.  

 

      f.   Urban Growth Boundary Expansion—Jorgensen said he and Owens met with a property  

owner who is interested in being included in the city’s UGB. Owens said the property 

owner’s goal is to subdivide his parcel for residential and commercial uses. Nordstrom 

asked about the suggested use for the commercial lots. Owens said it would be for 

storage. O’Connell said her biggest concern was the availability of services like sewer 

and water. A plan should be in place to extend the city’s infrastructure prior to any UGB 

expansion. The city’s sewer line goes up to the school, so that would be the likely place 

for a connection. Blodgett asked who pays to extend those lines. O’Connell said the 

developer typically does. Langner said that area includes some usable pieces of property, 

but also some wetlands. Any UGB expansion should include a larger area. Extending the 

UGB to the school and some other areas would make more sense. Jorgensen said the 

commission could revisit the issue at its next meeting, with better maps included in the 

packet. O’Connell said that would enable the commissioners to look at it in a better 

context. She said the commission should consider how an expansion would set the city up 

for success. Owens said the applicant would have to prove that the city needs additional 

land. The state would require a housing needs analysis, and that would be done by the 

county. O’Connell said there are officials at the county who could put together those 

maps. She can reach out to them so the commission could have that information at its 

January meeting. Langner said the city did some cherry stem annexations in the 1990s. If 

the UGB is expanded, it has to be done right and make sense.  

 

     g.   Two-Year Plan and Long-Term Priorities—O’Connell said she supports prioritizing  

            a flood plain ordinance. She asked about zombie houses and Jorgensen  

provided a definition. O’Connell said she thinks the police department needs additional 

tools to deal with those kinds of issues. Some of the priorities listed in the meeting 

materials are parts of the city’s comprehensive plan and its codes. She said she would like 

to prioritize updating those. Langner said he would like the commission to work on a 



 

 

view preservation ordinance and another that would limit light and noise impacts. 

O’Connell said she would like to address the issue of people living in RVs. Blodgett said 

there’s been discussion among staff about having an intergovernmental agreement with 

the county for enforcement of land use issues. St. Helens has one in place that can serve 

as a model. O’Connell agreed.  

 

O’Connell adjourned the meeting at 7:24 p.m.  

 

 

 

 

_____________________________              ______________________________________ 
Erin O’Connell, Chair                 Sarah Blodgett, City Recorder  

 



 

 

 ORDINANCE NO. 1078 

 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF RAINIER 

 ESTABLISHING BUSINESS LICENSE REGULATIONS FOR  

 FOOD CARTS 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BASED ON THE FOREGOING, THE CITY OF RAINIER 

ORDINANCE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to allow the legal operation of mobile food vending;  

 

WHEREAS, the City seeks to protect public health and safety by ensuring mobile food vendors 

follow clear rules and regulations that address demonstrable risks;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

RAINIER AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS 

A. Food Vending Vehicle: Any motorized vehicle used to sell food or beverages by a mobile food 

vendor. 

B. Mobile Food Vendor: Any person who dispenses food or beverages from a food vending 

vehicle for immediate service and/or consumption.  

 

SECTION 2. MOBILE FOOD VENDING BUSINESS PERMITTED 

A. No person may operate as a mobile food vendor in the City of Rainier without obtaining a 

mobile food vending license from the City and any other licenses or permits that may be 

required by other applicable state or county law. 

B. A separate mobile food vending license shall be required for each food vending vehicle 

operated by a mobile food vendor. 

C. A violation of this Chapter may result in the suspension or revocation of a mobile food vending 

license and civil penalties. 

 

SECTION 3. LICENSE APPLICATION AND GENERAL STANDARDS 

A. Application requirements. An applicant shall submit a written application to the City on a 

form provided by the City for a mobile food vending license. Failure to submit a complete 

application may result in denial of a license. The application shall contain the following 

information: 

 

1. The applicant’s name, primary residents and/ or business address and telephone number;  

2. The name, address and telephone number of any associated entities or organization that the 

applicant is representing and copies of documents verifying that relationship,  

3. A site plan of the subject property drawn to scale and including: 

a. The lot lines, 

b. The location of existing structures, 



c. The proposed boundaries of the mobile food cart. Within the boundaries of the 

mobile food cart, the location of all food carts, seating areas and any accessory 

items or structures, 

d. The proposed distance between the mobile food cart and adjacent lot lines, as well 

as the proposed separation distance between carts and other on-site structures, 

e. The type and location of any proposed on-site utility connections for mobile food 

carts, 

f. Individual square footage and length of each cart, 

g. Pictures or architectural elevations of proposed mobile food carts, 

h. The location of existing and proposed loading areas, driveways, on-site circulation 

drives, parking lots aisles, parking lot lighting, bicycle and automobile parking 

spaces and walkways, 

i. The orientation of service windows and doors on the food carts and location of 

customer queuing areas, 

j. The location of existing and proposed landscaping, 

k. The dimension, height and location of proposed signs, 

l. Proof of the availability of restroom facilities for employees and customers that 

meet the requirements of OAR Chapter 333-150-0000. 

m. The method for disposing of wastewater and gray water, 

n. Written verification of approval by Columbia County Health Department, 

o. Written verification of approval by Columbia River Fire and Rescue, 

p. A statement indicating any source of noise to be generated on the property and the 

method of mitigating the noise, and 

q. Any additional information that may be required to properly evaluate the proposed 

site plan.  

4. A traffic generation memo documenting the proposed flow of traffic to and from the site. 

 

B. Requirements for each food vending vehicle. In addition to the written application, an 

applicant shall provide the following information for each food vending vehicle: 

1. A list of all vehicle license numbers, vehicle descriptions, vehicle identification numbers 

and vehicle registration for the food vending vehicle(s); 

2. Proof of vehicle insurance for the food vending vehicle(s) and business owners operation 

insurance; and  

3. A copy of proof of any additional licenses or permits required by the State or Columbia 

County for the food vending vehicle(s).  

 

C. Requirements for food vending vehicle drivers. Any person who drives a food vending 

vehicle shall hold a current, valid driver’s license.  

 

D. Health inspection. Within 30 days of receiving a complete application, the Oregon Health 

Authority or its designee shall conduct a health inspection of the applicant’s food vending 

vehicle prior to issuing a mobile food vending license.  

 

E. Issuance of License. The City shall issue a mobile food vending license to the applicant upon 

receipt of a complete application and the applicant’s food vending vehicle(s) passing an initial 

inspection. Licenses shall be valid for one year after issuance.  



 

F. Substitution of licensed food vending vehicles. Licenses are not transferable, nor shall a 

license authorize the activities licensed by any person other than the licensee.  

 

G. Fees. The City is authorized to establish a reasonable schedule and classifications of fees not to 

exceed $200 for a mobile food vending license.  

 

H. Renewal. Licenses shall be renewed annually. The City shall send notice to the licensee. The 

licensee shall submit the renewal annually, prior to the license’s expiration date. The renewal 

shall include input from the Rainier Chief of Police regarding the impacts of the food cart on 

traffic patterns. Concerns about those traffic patterns shall be considered grounds for mitigation 

measures and/or a potential non-renewal of a license.  

 

I. Unlawful conduct. It is unlawful for any person to intentionally provide false information or to 

intentionally omit information on an application for a license under this chapter.  

 

SECTION 4. CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL. The City may impose conditions upon the approval 

of a mobile food vending license to ensure compliance with the requirements of this chapter, and other 

applicable chapters of its municipal code, and to minimize adverse impacts created by the use on 

surrounding property and uses. These conditions may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

A. Limiting the hours, days, place and manner of operation; 

B. Requiring site and building design features which minimize environmental impacts such as 

noise, glare and odor; 

C. Requiring additional building setbacks; 

D. Further limiting the building area and outdoor storage used by the mobile food cart and 

restricting the location of the use on the site in relationship to adjoining uses; 

E. Designating the size, number, location and design of vehicle access points; 

F. Requiring landscaping, buffering, and/or screening, of the mobile food cart from adjoining uses 

and establishing standards for the continued maintenance of these improvements; 

G. Requiring storm draining improvements, and surfacing of parking and loading areas; 

H. Limiting or setting standards for the location and intensity of outdoor lighting; 

I. Requiring and designating the size, height and location of fences and other materials used for 

their construction; 

J. Requiring the protection and preservation of existing trees and other vegetation, watercourses, 

slopes, wildlife habitat areas and drainage areas; 

K. Limiting the type and number of vehicles or equipment to be parked or stored on the site; 

L. Any other limitations which the City considers to be necessary or desirable to make the use 

comply with this section; and 

M. Any limitations or conditions imposed by the City’s service providers or the Fire Department.  

 

SECTION 5. MINIMUM SETBACKS AND SEPARATION DISTANCES. All food carts on 

the site shall be located a minimum of: 

 

1. Five feet from any structures or other food cart; 

2. Ten feet from any front lot line; and 



3. Five feet from any interior side or rear lot line, except if such lot line abuts a street the 

setback shall be ten feet and if such lot line abuts a residential district, the minimum setback 

shall be 20 feet.  

 

SECTION 6. MOBILE FOOD VENDING VEHICLE OPERATIONS 

 

A. Compliance with state and local law. Mobile food vendor shall follow any applicable state 

and local laws, including without limitation all fire codes, zoning codes, occupational tax codes 

and any other applicable state or local code provisions.  

 

B. Location of operations. A mobile food vendor may operate in the following locations: 

 

1) Private property. A mobile food vendor may operate on private property under the 

following circumstances:  

 

(i) The property is in a non-residential zone and the vendor has the permission of the 

       property owner and/or his or her designee. 

       

2) No interference with pedestrians or vehicles. A mobile food vendor shall not interfere 

with or obstruct the passage of pedestrians or vehicles along any street, sidewalk or 

parkway.  

 

C. Operational standards. When operating, a mobile food vendor shall: 

 

1) Maintain a food vending vehicle in good operating order and visual appearance; 

 

2) Park so that its service window faces the sidewalk; 

 

3) Serve customers through its service window; 

 

4) Provide a waste receptacle for customers which is clearly marked and request its use by 

customers; 

 

5) Pick up, remove and dispose of all refuse within 25 feet of the vendor’s operating area at 

the conclusion of service; 

 

6) Submit to and pass any required health inspections; and 

 

7) Display its mobile food vendor license and health certificate in a conspicuous location in its 

operating window for public view.  

 

SECTION 7. FOOD SAFETY, HEALTH INSPECTIONS AND CERTIFICATES 

 

A. Food safety certification. At all times, at least one person working in a food vending 

vehicle must hold a current food safety certification. 

 



B. Health inspections. For the purpose of protecting public health and safety, the Oregon 

Health Authority shall ensure that mobile food vendors are inspected on an ongoing, 

randomized basis pursuant to the frequency set forth in subdivision of this section. 

 

SECTION 8. SANITATION FACILITIES 

 

A. Food cart pods shall ensure the availability of a restroom with hand washing facilities 

meeting the provisions of OARR 33-150-0000 for employees and customers. Portable 

restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are not permitted, unless the portable 

handwashing facilities provide hot running water meeting the provisions of OAR 333-150-

0000. If portable restrooms and portable handwashing facilities are provided, they shall be 

screened from view with fencing or a solid vegetative screen, or a combination of the two, 

provided that the portable facilities are not visible from neighboring properties or public 

right-of-way. The restrooms must either be on-site, within one-quarter of a mile or within 

five minutes walking distance and be available during the carts’ hours of operation. 

Applicants shall provide the city with documentation that restrooms are available via the 

owners written permission for the utilization of facilities in an existing building.  

B. Sewage disposal. Subsurface sewage disposal is prohibited. 

C. Vendor parking. For any food cart pod requiring approval, vendor parking shall be provided 

at the rate of one parking stall per food cart. Vendor parking may be satisfied by the 

provision of off-site parking agreements, when the off-site parking space used is surplus 

parking and not required parking for an existing use.  

D. Utilities. To the extent that utilities are desired by the applicant or required by applicable 

regulations, food carts shall have self-contained utilities.  

 

 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

 

Jerry Cole, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

BY: _________________________________ 

 

Scott Jorgensen, City Administrator 

 

 

 

 






























































	December 16, 2020 Planning Commission Minutes
	Food Cart Ordinance 1078
	Rainier Comprehensive Plan

